
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 

 
 

ZONING BOARD of ADJUSTMENT 

MEETING MINUTES 

July 2, 2014 

 

 

Members Present: Bill Green (Chair) Doug Lyon (Vice Chair), W. Michael Todd (arrived at 6:35pm), 

Paul Vance (Alternate), Thelma Kaplan (Alternate) 
 

Also Present: Lucy St. John, Planning and Zoning Administrator. 
 

Chair Green called the meeting to order at 6:30pm. He welcomed new members, Thelma Kaplan and Paul 

Vance, to the meeting. He said that the hearing had been properly noticed and took the roll call. 

 

Election of Officers 
 

IT WAS MOVED (Doug Lyon) AND SECONDED (Thelma Kaplan) to nominate Bill Green 

as chair of the Zoning Board of Adjustment. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED 

UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

IT WAS MOVED (Bill Green) AND SECONDED (Thelma Kaplan) to nominate Doug Lyon 

as Vice-Chair of the Zoning Board of Adjustment.   

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.   

 

Special Exception Application for the Sparrow School, a private one room schoolhouse. Located at 

10 Lovering Lane (corner of Main Street). Tax Map 084-059-000. Property owned by Ellen Winkler. 

Applicant is Rachel Ensign.  Special Exception requested to Article XXI, Board of Adjustment (G), (4) 

(f) - Private School and other private educational institutions in the Commercial District.  The proposal is 

to transform the space into a one room schoolhouse, serving 6-8 children, ages 3-5 years.   

 

Ms. St. John referred to the staff report that was prepared for the Planning Board Site Plan application. 

She explained that Ms. Ensign has received Site Plan approval from the Planning Board at their meeting 

on June 24th, with conditions. The conditions were pending approval of a Special Exception from the 

ZBA and that all the required conditions of the Fire Chief be implemented prior to occupancy or as 

determined by the Fire Chief.   

 

Ms. Ensign then presented her application to the Board. Ms. Ensign said she wished to start a private pre-

school in town to provide another option for high quality education in New London. She chose the site 

because it is in the heart of New London. The space suits her needs for the number of children she would 

like to have. Ms. Ensign said she would like to use the community spaces as part of their curriculum 

(Tracy Library and Town Green), as a way of getting connected to the community. 

 

Chair Green asked for an example of what daily activities would include to help them envision how the 

school day would go. Ms. Ensign said she would like to provide developmentally appropriate, play-based 

activities as well as going out into the community. Most of the time they would spend in the classroom. 

The day would start at 7:45 and end at 2:45pm with a 15-minute window at each end of the day for drop-

off/pick-up. She understood there were some parking concerns and said she planned to have parents pick 

up their children in the lot behind the school so as not to impact traffic on Main Street.   



Zoning Board of Adjustment    

July 2, 2014 Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 6 

 

 

Ms. Ensign said her next step would to complete New Hampshire Childcare licensing and she would 

provide that information to the Town once she had her license.  She explained that she needed to get local 

approvals before submitting her application to the State.  

 

Public Hearing opened.  

 

Mr. Lyon asked Ms. Ensign if the owner of the building would comply with the conditions set forth by 

Fire Chief Lyon. Ms. Ensign said they would. Mr. Todd asked about handicapped access. Ms. Ensign said 

the second door out of the back of the building would have a ramp entrance. She noted the size of the 

building was 384 square feet.  Chair Green asked if there were State standards for square feet required per 

child.  Ms. Ensign said it was 20’ per child.  

 

Ms. Kaplan asked if it would be difficult to get into the building in the winter and wondered about snow 

removal/storage plans. Ms. Ensign said she has thought about winter parking and has considered offering 

parents a discount for carpooling. She could also stagger the pick-up drop-off time. She added that her 

school would follow the school district’s closing schedule (delays, cancellations due to snow).  She would 

be open September through early June and closed throughout the summer. 

 

Chair Green said Main Street was a congested area and his biggest concern was safety when children 

were taken out for their walks, etc. Ms. Ensign said she would never be alone with the children. She 

planned to have one assistant and would hire a substitute should she be unavailable.  They would use 

crosswalks and would take the safest routes possible. 

 

Ms. Ensign explained that the Planning Board had suggested putting a sign out, or holding a sign when 

the children are crossing the road, and to alert people that there is a school in this areas.  

 

Mr. Vance asked about food preparation. Ms. Ensign said she would provide snacks and the children 

would come with their own lunches.  He asked if she anticipated offering extended child care hours. She 

said she did not plan to do that and wanted the day to end at 2:45pm. Ms. Ensign said she wasn’t sure she 

would ever offer this, but it was something to think about. 

 

Mr. Todd asked how they plan to move that many kids on outings. Ms. Ensign said they would all be 

wearing matching tee-shirts and would use a walking-rope that kids would hold on to. She has 

management training and has many “teacher tricks” she can use to keep the kids together. She would also 

have someone helping her. Mr. Todd asked how far she would have to go to reach a crosswalk. She said 

the closest one was by the library. There was another one by the telephone company. Mr. Todd asked how 

she would get them from the school to the crosswalk. Ms. Ensign said they would use the sidewalk. 

 

Mr. Todd asked how many vehicle trips this would add to the traffic on Lovering Lane per day. Ms. 

Ensign said there would be eight cars in the morning and eight cars at night. Mr. Todd said the cars would 

have to turn around there because it is a dead-end road. Mr. Todd thought this would create an impact on 

Main Street, especially for vehicles wanting to turn left on to Main Street (from Lovering Lane). Ms. 

Ensign said they would use the lot behind the school.   Ms. Kaplan suggested having someone go into the 

road with a stop sign to allow the cars to go right or left from Lovering Lane.  

 

Mr. Todd said he was concerned with the traffic delays and safety issues having to do with this location. 

He said she has the burden of proving there was a solution to these concerns. Ms. Ensign said there were 

five parallel parking spaces out front and that may help avoid congestion in the parking lot. Mr. Todd said 

the traffic on Main Street is busiest during the hours of operation she is opening and closing. 

 



Zoning Board of Adjustment    

July 2, 2014 Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 6 

 

 

Mr. Lyon said she was only adding eight cars and that didn’t seem to him to be a huge impact on the 

traffic congestion. He thought Mr. Todd was correct and it was a very busy area but this was true mostly 

in the summer. Chair Green agreed that the added amount of cars would be manageable.  

 

Mr. Lyon said the children at the Windy Hill School frequent the New London library and with 

appropriate staffing and attention, it is quite manageable.  

 

Mr. Vance asked how many occupants lived on Lovering Lane. Ms. St. John referred to the tax map 

included in the staff report, showing six lots.  Ms. St. John commented that a couple abutters attended the 

Planning Board meeting and offered comments. Their primary concerns were for the safety of the 

children.  The discussion focused on how during peak times this might impact traffic on Main Street. Ms. 

St. John then noted that the ITE Manual which is often referenced when discussing traffic count data.  She 

did not have the traffic count data available on Main Street included in the staff report. She explained that 

per the ITE manual, a single family home may generate an average of 8-10 vehicles trips per day per 

household, and the applicant would only be generally 6-8 vehicles trips, in the morning and in the 

afternoon. 

  

IT WAS MOVED (Michael Todd) AND SECONDED (Bill Green) to discuss. 

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Mr. Todd felt Ms. Ensign’s testimony proved that all criteria required for a special exception had been 

met. Her testimony, with regards to traffic, shows the increase in traffic is not statistically significant. 

There would be an added entrance to the rear, to keep kids from the busy street. Students walking on 

outings would be tethered and they would only be walking on sidewalks and crosswalks. The school 

would be closed during the summer, and he didn’t see any adverse impact on the area from the school 

being open at the Lovering Lane location.  

 

Mr. Lyon said the use ordinarily prohibited in the district, it is considered a special exception, and felt the 

criteria for special exception had been met.  The Board reviewed the special exception criteria and the 

information included in the application materials for each of the criteria.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Doug Lyon) AND SECONDED (Thelma Kaplan) to approve the special 

exception. 

 

Mr. Todd asked to amend the motion: 

 

IT WAS MOVED (Michael Todd) AND SECONDED (Bill Green) to approve the special 

exception with conditions that Ms. Ensign acquire proper licensing by the State of New 

Hampshire and allowing a maximum of ten (10) students in the school. 

 

Mr. Todd thought Ms. Ensign should encourage parents to carpool and to proceed with right-directional 

traffic when coming and going to the school to minimize cross-traffic.  

 

Mr. Vance asked if the hours of operation should be limited. Mr. Lyon didn’t agree that this should be 

attached to the approval. Mr. Todd suggest that if Ms. Ensign were to extend the hours of operation, to 

accommodate after school care for her students, until 5pm for example, that this should be reevaluated at 

a later date.  Mr. Lyon thought they should allow that flexibility with the school. 

 

Chair Green said that if there is a demand for this type of after school service, he would expect that she 

would need a larger space.  



Zoning Board of Adjustment    

July 2, 2014 Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 6 

 

 

Mr. Vance asked again how many children the State would allow her to have based on the current square 

footage of the building. She said 19 students, she would never take on that many children in a building 

that small.  She explained that would be just too many students for that amount of space.   

 

Public Hearing closed.  

 

Chair Green called for a motion. 

 

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
Variance Application for Kozain Trust Property. Located at 55 Page Road, with frontage on Page 

Road and County Road. Tax map 117-021-000.   
 

Ms. St. John explained that surveyor Clayton Platt had prepared two conceptual layout plans on how to 

potentially subdivide the lot. She noted that they would need to get subdivision approval from the 

Planning Board.  She referred to the ZBA application and other materials submitted with the application, 

including the two different conceptual layout plans.  

 

Public Hearing opened.  

 

Clayton Platt, surveyor, explained the layout of the two plans submitted with the application and why 

they were applying for a variance.   Mr. Platt said the property is about 20 acres in size with a fair amount 

of jurisdictional wetlands. An image was shown to those in attendance. They are proposing to use the 

15% allowable wetlands for the lot for the density calculation.  The applicant is seeking a variance, to 

have one of the lots be 4.7 acres and the other 15.0 acres. The other layout (with the proposed diagonal lot 

line) would have one lot with 8.7 acres and the other with 11.0 acres. . He explained, that if the variance is 

granted, as they propose the larger lots (15 acre lot) would never be subdivided due to the amount of 

wetland it contains. Mr. Platt said this was similar to the proposal the Vernons did a couple years ago that 

included steep slopes.  He explained that a note could be included on the plan stating this lot could never 

been further subdivided.  

 

He explained that many of the lots in the area are smaller sized lots. The argument is maintaining the 

ownership of the marshland of the middle with the main house so it would meet the intent of the 

ordinance rather than meeting the regulations and cutting the wetlands in half.  

 

Mr. Vance wondered if there were a lot of wetlands on the contiguous parcels. Mr. Platt thought there 

were. It is between 20”-6” down before they reach clay. It was believed excess drainage went towards 

Lake Sunapee.  

 

It was noted that an existing stone wall would be a boundary between the two lots. 

 

Mr. Platt didn’t feel this plan would be contrary to public interest because the density of wetlands used 

would remain and the wetland won’t be fragmented but kept on one lot.  He thought justice would be 

done because it would allow them to keep their lot line and use stone wall to separate the parcels. Mr. 

Platt thought this was a reasonable request and said all the other requirements had been met. 

 

Ms. Kaplan wondered why they wanted to change the lot line. Chair Green said they were looking to have 

a second parcel and keep more land with the farm house.  

 



Zoning Board of Adjustment    

July 2, 2014 Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 6 

 

 

Mr. Vance said if they split it as the ordinance states, they would be two lots with enough upland, so they 

would be conforming. Mr. Lyon said they have the right to subdivide into two lots. It depends if the 

proposed variance makes sense with regards to the wetland and the desire to maintain more property with 

the farm house. He thought not fragmenting the wetland made sense. A condition they could put on the 

approval could be that they don’t allow any subdivision of the larger lot in the future. 

 

IT WAS MOVED (W. Michael Todd) AND SECONDED (Doug Lyon) to discuss. 

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Chair Green said he agreed with the plan. The applicant is not requesting to increase the number of lots 

more than the number permitted. The division of the property makes more sense as requested. 

 

Mr. Todd commented that he usually has concerns about applicants “monkeying” with percentages with 

regards to wetlands, as it can be a slippery slope. Since this is only two lots and can never be broken into 

more, he was fine with this case.  

 

Mr. Vance asked about setting precedent; did anyone have any better idea how this could be misused in 

another situation. Chair Green said it is the circumstances of each case they have to consider and they are 

rarely ever the same on a case by case basis. Mr. Lyon said they are not setting a precedent because each 

decision is specific to each circumstance. 

 

Ms. St. John suggested that the condition of no further subdivision be included in the motion and in the 

deed to clarify this restriction for the future. 

 

Mr. Todd suggested recording the decision with the Merrimack County Registry of Deeds.  

 

Public Hearing closed.  

 

IT WAS MOVED (Doug Lyon) AND SECONDED (Bill Green) to approve the variance as it was: 

1. Not contrary to public interest because the density would be maintained.  

2. The spirit of the ordinance would be maintained because fragmentation of the wetland 

would be eliminated.  

3. Substantial justice would be done because they would have more land with the house lot, 

and two lots in total, surrounded by similar-sized properties. 

4. Property values would not be diminished because surrounding properties are smaller lots. 

5. Hardship would be that the ordinance regulations would create lots that are not ideal, the 

proposed lot configuration makes more sense and protects the wetlands.  

 

Variance granted with conditions that the there be no further subdivision of either lot and that 

the Notice of Decision on the subdivision plan be recorded at the Merrimack County Registry of 

Deeds (MCRD).    

 

THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
Approval of Minutes 

 

IT WAS MOVED (Doug Lyon) AND SECONDED (Bill Green) to approve the minutes of 

May 19, 2014, as circulated. THE MOTION WAS APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

 



Zoning Board of Adjustment    

July 2, 2014 Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 6 

 

 

Other Business 

 

Rules of Procedure:  Ms. St. John had provided the Board a copy of the current Rules of Procedure, dated 

1991, and the example from the NHOEP Zoning Board Handbook.  Mr. Todd suggested that the Board 

members review this information, and offer suggestions for amending the text.  The ZBA members were 

asked to review this information and provide suggested edits to staff. Ms. St. John will prepare a draft 

amended version of the Rules of Procedure for discussion at the next meeting. The members were 

agreeable with this. 

 

Master Plan:  A couple members of the Board asked for a copy of the Master Plan.  

 

Applications packets:   Some members of the Board asked to receive a paper version, rather than 

reviewing the information posted on the Town’s website.  

 

The meeting adjourned at 7:37pm. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Kristy Heath, Recording Secretary 

Town of New London 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


